Navigating the socio-cultural context of firstgeneration migrant parents: a case study of parental engagement in Moerwijk

Master's Thesis

Name: Paula Medina Agromayor Student number: 654722 First reader: Mark van Ostaijen Second reader: Asya Pisarevskaya

> Date: 9th August 2023 Word count: 11992

Governance of Migration and Diversity – Public Administration Erasmus School of Social and Behavioural Sciences

Erasmus universiteit rotterdam

Abstract

Parental engagement is widely acknowledged in the literature as having the potential to significantly enhance children's educational outcomes. This has resulted in its prominence in school reform policies across various Western countries in the last decades. However, a noticeable research gap exists regarding parental engagement patterns for marginalized communities, particularly migrant groups. Addressing this gap, the present study focuses on parental engagement among migrant parents. Specifically, this study examines the parental engagement of firstgeneration migrants in the P. Oosterlee school in Moerwijk and investigates the sociocultural factors that influence their participation, including language and (cultural) literacy, work situations, school attitudes towards parents, household situations, and different approaches towards parental engagement. Through a series of insightful focus groups involving 11 mothers and subsequent individual follow-up interviews, this research reveals the significant impact of sociocultural factors on various aspects of parental engagement, both positively and negatively. Home-based engagement remained largely unaffected, while parent-school communication encountered challenges. Additionally, parental expectations regarding their children's education were found to be positively influenced by the studied factors, but sociocultural factors posed barriers to parental involvements in school activities. The findings of this study provide valuable insights into the intricate dynamics of immigrant integration and participation within school settings. The study highlights the disadvantages faced by migrant parents in engaging in the education of their children while emphasizing the diverse interpretations of parental engagement. By building upon these insights, it becomes possible to foster an inclusive educational environment that fully harnesses the potential of parents, teachers, and students, thereby enhancing the educational experience.

Acknowledgements

The months encompassing the various stages of this thesis have been full of excitement, gratification, and curiosity, interwoven with moments of frustration and stress. Despite these varied experiences, these months have gifted me great academic and personal growth. I would like to thank everyone that has been involved in this research project in every possible way, because every contribution has played and essential role in the completion of this work.

Firstly, my gratitude extends to the mothers who opened themselves to share their personal experiences and perspectives. It has been fascinating to hear about their viewpoints, and to learn about the remarkable role that they have in strengthening education. Similarly, I extend my thanks to the individuals who have supported me in connecting with the participants of my study. Reaching my participants has been a very challenging process, and it would have never been possible to complete this thesis without their guidance and support. I would also like to express my gratitude to the Thesis Hub The Hague South West for offering me great support and inspiration.

To the residents of Moerwijk, who welcomed me throughout my research, I am profoundly thankful. Their support has enriched my experience and added depth to my findings. Secondly, I would like to thank all the friends and family members that have encouraged me during these months. They offered me the emotional support that I needed to complete my research.

Finally, I would like to give a special acknowledgment to my thesis supervisor Mark van Ostaijen. His guidance, feedback, and support have been essential in making me believe in myself throughout the challenges encountered.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction	6
2. Theoretical framework	9
2.1. IMMIGRANT INTEGRATION AND PARTICIPATION IN SCHOOLS	9
2.2. PARENTAL ENGAGEMENT	10
2.3. SOCIO-CULTURAL CONTEXT AND PARENTAL ENGAGEMENT	12
3. Research design	15
3.1. RESEARCH QUESTION	15
3.2. OPERATIONALIZATION	15
3.3. METHODOLOGY	17
4. Contextual Background	21
4.1. THE HAGUE SOUTHWEST	21
4.2. P. OOSTERLEE SCHOOL	22
5. Empirical findings and analysis	23
5.1 PARENTAL ENGAGEMENT OF FIRST-GENERATION MIGRANT PARENTS	23
5.1 PARENTAL ENGAGEMENT OF FIRST-GENERATION MIGRANT PARENTS 5.1.1. Home-based engagement	
	23
5.1.1. Home-based engagement	23 24
5.1.1. Home-based engagement 5.1.2. Parent-school/teacher communication	23 24 25
5.1.1. Home-based engagement5.1.2. Parent-school/teacher communication5.1.3. Parent expectation of child's education	23 24 25 26
 5.1.1. Home-based engagement 5.1.2. Parent-school/teacher communication 5.1.3. Parent expectation of child's education 5.1.4. Parent engagement in school activities 	23 24 25 26 27
 5.1.1. Home-based engagement	
 5.1.1. Home-based engagement	23 24 25 26 26 27 27 27 27 28 29
 5.1.1. Home-based engagement	

6.2. DISCUSSION	
6.2.1. Limitations	
6.3. RECOMMENDATIONS	
Appendix	42
APPENDIX 1: LIST OF PARTICIPANTS	42
APPENDIX 2: CONSENT FORM	43
APPENDIX 3: FOCUS GROUP STRUCTURE	45
Bibliography	48

1. Introduction

The Hague Southwest is an area of The Hague that suffers from severe socioeconomic conditions such as poverty, unemployment, health problems, and poor educational outcomes. The area comprises Moerwijk, Morgenstond, Bouwlust, and Vrederust, hosting nearly 15% of the The Hague's population (Zuidwest, n.d.a). The vulnerability that the area and its residents face has been highlighted by the political and non-political actors of the region. Moreover, the complexity of issues existing in the region has been considered to be in need of urgent action (Gemeente Den Haag, 2022a). Indeed, to address some of the existing socio-economic issues in the region, the Dutch government and the municipality of The Hague formulated the 'Regiodeal Den Haag Zuidwest' (Governance of Migration and Diversity, n.d.). This agreement aims to ensure that the quality of life of the residents of The Hague Southwest in areas such as education, safety, or social cohesion, is equal to the average of the residents in the city as a whole (Gemeente Den Haag, 2022a).

Another point to consider is the existing diversity in The Hague Southwest, especially in terms of the migratory origin of its residents. Among the four neighborhoods, Moerwijk is the one with the highest proportion of residents with a migratory background. Specifically, more than 75% of the residents have a migratory background, mainly from Turkish, Moroccan, and Surinamese origins (Zuidwest, n.d.b). The need to incorporate migrants into the existing societal institutions has been considered essential to ensure their integration into the host society (Alba et al., 2011). Indeed, the ability of a state to enable the incorporation of migrants has been considered as having the potential not only to foster social cohesion and solidarity within a society but also to reduce poverty. Participation in societal institutions includes different spheres, such as education or the labor market, and has been widely connected to variations in poverty (Eugster, 2018).

Indeed, as poverty increases in several European countries, scholars have maintained a considerable interest in the relationship between education and poverty. Importantly, educational gaps are recognized as a major obstacle to addressing inequality and deprivation (Khalfaoui et al., 2020; Van Laere et al., 2018). Similarly, education is seen as a means for individual social and economic advancement through human capital development. This has brought education in recent decades to the center of the fight against poverty (Tarabini, 2010). Following the urge to tackle

educational issues, the connection between educational attainments and the effective involvement of parents has been repeatedly raised in the literature (Alameda-Lawson, 2010). This idea has been embraced by policymakers and educators to improve children's educational outcomes (Huntsinger & Jose, 2009). Notwithstanding, the literature has also pointed to the existence of various barriers challenging parental involvement, affecting most strongly families with migratory backgrounds because of their particular socio-cultural context (Vinopal, 2017).

Despite the extensive research carried out regarding parental engagement, the particular position of migrant parents remains understudied. Moerwijk represents an interesting case to study the situation of first-generation migrant parents, due to the high percentage of residents with a migratory background in the neighborhood. Furthermore, despite the prevailing recognition of the positive impact parental engagement can have on educational achievements of children, both parental engagement and educational outcomes in the neighborhood remain low. To make use of the potential of parental engagement, the factors inhibiting this engagement need to be identified and understood to design mechanisms capable of properly tackling them. To do so, this thesis will explore *the sociocultural factors shaping parental engagement of first-generation migrant parents by focusing on the P. Oosterle school in Moerwijk*. In order to do so, the following research question has been formulated:

"How do sociocultural factors influence parental engagement levels among first-generation migrant parents in Moerwijk regarding the education of their children?"

This research is relevant to the existing knowledge from a societal and academic point of view. The societal relevance of this study is represented through the educational indicators of the neighborhood and the emphasis that the literature has placed on parental engagement as a way to enhance educational outcomes. Indeed, the need to urgently tackle the low level of parental engagement has been raised by the actors of the neighborhood. Likewise, the academic relevance of this paper rests in the contributions that this study offers to the existing literature on parental engagement and migrant participation. The specific parental engagement among migrant communities remains widely understudied, as well as the way in which the socio-cultural context of these parents shapes their engagement. Importantly, the predominance of residents with a migratory background in Moerwijk turns it into an ideal case study to explore these dynamics. All

in all, this paper delves deeper into the societal integration of immigrants by focusing on parental engagement. Understanding the engagement of first-generation migrant parents in Moerwijk will benefit policymakers and educators in the region aiming to improve parental engagement as a tool for educational reinforcement.

2. Theoretical framework

The aim of this chapter is to review the existing literature and lay down the theoretical foundations of this study. First, the existing literature on immigrant integration and participation is explored. Second, the contextualization of parental engagement is examined, followed by the existing theoretical foundations of the socio-cultural context surrounding parents and their engagement. Finally, this chapter ends with a conclusion summarizing the main points discussed.

2.1. Immigrant integration and participation in schools

In recent decades, Western societies have undergone demographic changes due to ongoing migratory flows (Dörr & Faist, 1997; Marschall, 2006). These societal transformations have brought immigrant integration to the forefront of attention for migration scholars and policymakers (Khoudja, 2018). Various approaches have emerged concerning the concept of immigrant integration, influenced partly by different strategies and models of integration (Berry, 2011). This is reflected in the existence of different policies that range from identity-blind policies, following assimilationism ideas, to identity-conscious ideologies like multiculturalism (Uzelac et al., 2022). Notwithstanding, there is a widespread consensus that the incorporation of settled migrants into societal institutions, such as the labor market, is crucial (Alba et al., 2011). Families with immigrant backgrounds have been considered more vulnerable to experiencing social and institutional isolation and exclusion, which further hinders their participation in society (Crul et al., 2013). Therefore, several authors have emphasized the importance of preparing and facilitating the robust membership of newcomers in society (Alba et al., 2011). The acquisition of sociocultural skills necessary to navigate the new sociocultural environment is seen as an indicator of adaptation to the host culture (Sam & Berry, 2010).

Within the broad field of immigrant integration, a significant portion of the literature has focused on educational integration. One of the reasons for this emphasis is that many children of immigrant origin face significant educational disadvantages compared with students of native backgrounds (Alba et al., 2011; Heath & Cheung 2007; Heath et al., 2008). However, some authors have also highlighted potential educational advantages steaming from the migratory background of students. For instance, Barac & Bialystok (2011) highlight the developmental benefits of bilingualism for children. Notwithstanding, Turney and Kao (2009) argue that the educational achievement of immigrant-origin families serves as an indicator of immigrant integration. Education parity is therefore not only valued as a specific type of immigrant adaptation but also for its connection to inclusion in other societal domains (Castells et al., 1999; Gries et al., 2021). For instance, Alexiu et al. (2010) highlight education as a key strategy in improving access to employment, housing, health, and other forms of societal participation. Similarly, Gries et al., (2021) emphasize that educational integration is tied to social mobility, as lower educational attainment can limit upward mobility and perpetuate barriers to integration across generations.

To address the interplay between immigrant integration, social inequality, and schools, policymakers and researchers have increasingly focused on enhancing parental involvement (Turney & Kao, 2009). Vinopal (2017) expands the connection between integration and education to the parental sphere, positing that parental engagement serves as an indicator of parents' social capital and community involvement. Similarly, Portes (1998) views parental engagement as a form of social capital due to the benefits derived from networks and connections. Additionally, UNESCO promotes the inclusion of immigrant families in the children's school context as a measure of social integration (Blanco & Umayahara, 2004). However, the literature reflects that educational institutions encounter greater challenges when attempting to engage ethnic minority parents (Pels, 2003). Hence, boosting parental engagement has been identified as a potential tool for reducing ethnic educational inequality (Fleischmann & de Haas, 2016).

This thesis will not focus on endorsing or validating a specific model of integration but will instead examine integration as a process and opportunity to acquire the sociocultural skills necessary for active participation in the surrounding sociocultural context. Furthermore, the thesis will place particular emphasis on educational integration through parental engagement, which will be discussed in the following section.

2.2. Parental engagement

Research on parental engagement in schooling has significantly increased in recent decades (Marschall, 2006). Numerous studies have highlighted a positive connection between parental involvement and various indicators of student achievement (Desforges & Abouchaar, 2003; Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2005; Jeynes, 2007; López et al., 2001). As a result, parental engagement has gained prominence in school reform policies in many Western countries (Bernhard et al., 1998;

Vinopal, 2017). This has been driven in part by concerns about the lack of engagement among parents, especially among families with a migratory background and vulnerable groups (Khalfaoui et al., 2020; López et al., 2001). Indeed, Vinopal (2017) considers that policies targeting parental engagement represent a low-cost intervention with a large potential of narrowing educational achievement gaps. Accordingly, improvements in educational outcomes across different ethnicities are aimed at considering the diversity of the school (Hornby & Witte, 2010; Wilder, 2014).

The definition of parental engagement has sparked various academic debates within the literature. López (2001) argues that the concept of parental involvement has traditionally been tied to a scripted role that parents are expected to perform, rather than encompassing the spontaneous and routine activities practiced by parents. This has limited parental engagement to certain legitimate acts, neglecting and obscuring culturally specific perspectives of minority populations (Crozier & Davies, 2007; Marschall, 2006). Similarly, Schneider & Arnot (2018) criticize this traditional understanding of parental engagement as an erroneous 'one size fits all' attempt based on normative assumptions about "good parenting" often rooted in middle-class strategies and resources. Some of the traditional involvement approaches may be outside the cultural repertoire of some parents, which pushes them to the "uninvolved" and "uncaring" category (Chavkin, 1993). Indeed, Hoover-Dempsey & Sandler (1995) highlight that for parents to engage in these socially accepted routines, they require not only willingness to do so but also prior knowledge of these expectations and opportunities. Consequently, marginalized forms of parental engagement have been studied as both a challenge to the rigidity of socially established practices and a source of counter-story (López, 2001). In pursuit of a more inclusive approach, some scholars have conceived parental engagement as a multidimensional construct, acknowledging that it can take various forms (Brajša-Žganec et al., 2019; Huntsinger & Jose, 2009; Turney & Kao, 2009). More flexible conceptualizations have included inside parental engagement any parental participation in their children's educational process (Jeynes, 2007), or any type of dedication of resources from the parent to their children (Grolnick and Slowiaczek, 1994). Additionally, some authors propose that parental engagement is not only a one-way process but rather a two-way interaction and mutual exchange between the home and the school (Schneider & Arnot, 2018).

The discussions regarding the definition of parental engagement have been accompanied by a diversity of perspectives on what elements compose parental engagement. For instance, Epstein

(2010) identifies six types of involvement from the teacher's perspective: parenting, communicating, volunteering, learning at home, decision-making, and collaborating with the community. However, this conceptualization has been criticized for overlooking inequalities and differences among parents, making it challenging for some parents to meet these expectations (Lareau, 1987). As a result, there has been a growing demand for more inclusive opportunities for engagement and recognition of different conceptions of participation (López, 2001). This call for new conceptualizations is also evident in the literature, with some authors expanding upon existing frameworks, such as home-based involvement or communication, to promote inclusivity (Fleischmann & de Haas, 2016; Schneider & Arnot, 2018; Vinopal, 2017). Similarly, other authors have introduced additional types of parental engagement that encompass broader participation, such as parents' expectation for their child's education (Davis-Kean, 2005) and parents' knowledge about their child's education (Scheneider & Arnot, 2018).

This thesis aims to adopt a more inclusive definition and conceptualization of parental engagement. Consequently, a variety of approaches raised in the literature are taken into consideration in the operationalization section.

2.3. Socio-cultural context and parental engagement

The lack of extensive research on effective parental engagement strategies for marginalized groups has been reflected in the minimal efforts by schools and policymakers to explore non-traditional forms of engagement (Delgado-Gaitán, 1993). Finders & Lewis (1994) emphasize that immigrant and minority families are left with confusion and discomfort within a system that misunderstands them and hinders their active involvement in the education of their children. To this end, the concept of 'hard-to-reach' families has gained traction in both literature and policies related to parent engagement. García-Carmona et al. (2020) define 'hard-to-reach' families as those who are eligible for services or programs, such as parental engagement, but who encounter barriers that impede their access. However, Landy and Menna (2006) argue that in other to effectively engage with these families labeled as "hard-to-reach" it is crucial to understand the factors that either hinder or facilitate their engagement.

The literature has examined socio-demographic factors, as well as language and cultural influences. Firstly, some studies have highlighted the impact of the parents' educational level (Vinopal, 2017), family structures (Bengtson, 2001), lack of childcare for other children, and employment conditions on parental engagement (Schneider & Arnot, 2018). Similarly, other studies have emphasized the role of socioeconomic status (Turney & Kao, 2009). For instance, Berzin (2010) underscores that parents from low-income families are often less involved in the academic activities of their children. More specifically, Hoover-Dempsey et al., (2005) argue that attention should be given to the varying resources associated with socio-economic status, such as time, energy, knowledge, and skills. Similarly, Muller & Kerbow (2018) point to the need to focus on the availability of resources and opportunities for parents. Secondly, the literature has discussed linguistic and cultural factors from different theoretical perspectives. Vinopal (2017) introduces the concept of cultural capital to link limited familiarity with the language and style of the educational system to a decreased likelihood of parental involvement. The unfamiliarity with the system has been discussed regarding a lack of understanding of the implications of the track choice of the students, the subject's content, or the assessment system (Alba et al., 2011; Schneider & Arnot, 2018). Language fluency challenges have been particularly noted among migrant families, making it difficult to communicate with teachers, comprehend notices sent by the school, or assist their children with homework (Alba et al., 2011; Gibson et al., 2012; Schneider & Arnot, 2018). Similarly, Carlisle et al. (2005) argue that a language mismatch between parents and teachers can create discomfort for parents and push them away from getting involved. Diverse perceptions of the roles of teachers and parents in children's education have also been explored as a barrier to parental engagement (Bernhard et al., 1988; Marschall, 2006). These differences can arise from cultural dispositions toward education or even from differences in patterns of living derived from contrasting socio-economic statuses (Curdt-Christiansen, 2020; Gordan, 1968).

Similarly, institutional challenges have also been extensively discussed in the literature, often intertwined with issues of discrimination and exclusion. The experiences parents have had with the educational system, including past interactions with members of the school, have been argued to impact parental engagement (Hornby & Blackwell, 2018; Turney & Kao, 2009). The literature emphasizes that social and cultural differences often shape how are parents perceived by teachers (Vinopal, 2017). López et al (2001) assert that this has resulted in some parents being perceived as lacking the means or willingness to engage meaningfully. Consequently, problems of miscommunication and mislabeling of parents can result in families feeling disconnected, stigmatized, and excluded (Alba et al., 2011; Chavkin, 1993; Delgado-Gaitán, 1991; López et al.,

2001; Ramirez, 2003). Similarly, other studies suggest that disadvantaged parents are likely to feel coerced and intimidated by socioeconomic status differences and the authority of teachers (Bernhard et al., 1988; Moles, 1993). Furthermore, Bernhard et al. (1988) emphasize that these dynamics must be understood within the broader societal patterns of subordination that affect specific cultural and racial groups.

This study incorporates a range of diverse factors discussed in this section. However, these factors are not only examined as potential inhibitors of parent engagement but also as factors that have the potential to positively influence parental engagement.

Overall, this chapter has discussed the main debates of the literature surrounding immigrant integration and participation in schools, the conceptualizations of parental engagement, and the effect of the socio-cultural context on parental engagement. While existing literature has explored the topic of parental engagement, there are still gaps that this thesis aims to address. Firstly, there is a need to understand why certain parents are less involved compared to others, from the parents' own perspective. Despite the emphasis on parental involvement in educational reform projects, this aspect has not been extensively studied. Additionally, there is a limited volume of literature specifically addressing parental engagement in the context of first-generation migrant communities. Due to the unique circumstances faced by these parents, it is crucial to incorporate their perspective. Lastly, the majority of the research has focused on the context of the United States of America, leaving the Dutch context relatively understudied.

3. Research design

In this chapter, the research design is presented. First, the research question and sub-questions are stated. Second, the operationalization of the variables is presented through the operationalization table. Third, the method of data collection and analysis, and the sampling method that are used in this research are explained. Finally, the limitations and ethical considerations surrounding the study are discussed.

3.1. Research question

This study explores the following research question: "How do sociocultural factors influence parental engagement levels among first-generation migrant parents in Moerwijk regarding the education of their children?" To approach this question, the following sub-questions will be researched "How do first-generation migrant parents in Moerwijk engage with the schooling of their children?" and "How do sociocultural factors affect the integration of first-generation migrant parents in Moerwijk into the educational institution?"

Variables	Conceptual	Dimension	Indicators	Source
	definition			
Parental	Two-way	Home-based	Importance attributed to and	Focus
engagement	interaction	engagement	frequency of talking with	groups/interviews
	process between	(Epstein, 2010;	their children about school	with the parents
	parents and	Fleischmann & de	Engaging in at-home	
	school actors	Haas, 2016)	learning activities	
	that promotes		Establishing a home	
	the social,		environment that supports	
	emotional, and		learning	
	academic	Parent-	Talking to teachers or school	
	growth of	school/teacher	mentor	
	children	communication	Attending parent-teacher	
	(Marschall et	(Fleischmann & de	individual meetings	

3.2. Operationalization

al., 2012;	Haas, 2016;	Attending parents' evenings
National	Schneider & Arnot,	Returning communication
Education Goals	2018; Vinopal,	attempts from the school
Pannel, 1999;	2017)	
Scheneider &	Parent expectation	Importance attributed to
Arnot, 2018)	of child's education	their children reaching high
	(Davis-Kean,	levels of education
	2005)	
	Parent engagement	Volunteering in school
	in school activities	activities
	(Epstein, 2010)	Getting involved in school
		decision making

Table 1: Operationalization of 'Parent engagement'

Variable	Conceptual	Dimension	Indicators	Interview
	Definition			question(s)
Sociocultural	Aspects of the	Language &	Ability to comfortable	Focus
factors	social or	(cultural) literacy	communicate in local	groups/interviews
	cultural	(Alba et al., 2011;	language	with the parents
	background of	Turney & Kao,	Understanding of the	
	the parents	2009)	educational system	
	(Hoover-		Parent's education	
	Dempsey et	Work situation	Incompatibility of	
	al., 2005)	(Schneider &	engagement with work	
		Arnot, 2018)	schedule	
		School attitudes	Perception of school's staff	
		towards parents	attitude towards parents	
		(Hornby &	Previous negative	
		Blackwell, 2018;	experiences with the school	

Turney & Kao,	Experiences of different
2009)	treatment in the school
	because of their background
Household situation	Household situations
(Schneider &	affecting engagement
Arnot, 2018)	
Different values	Perceived difference in
and approaches to	expectations with the school
parental	regarding parental
engagement	engagement
(Bernhard et al.,	
1988; Marschall,	
2006)	

Table 2: Operationalization of 'Sociocultural factors'

3.3. Methodology

As far as methodology is concerned, a qualitative approach was employed. This facilitated the interpretation of the possibilities for parental engagement of first-generation migrants, acknowledging the complexity of reality and the subjective perspectives of individuals (Robert & Gaudet, 2018). The chosen methodology was an instrumental case study, focusing on a specific instance to gain deeper insights into the issue (Babbie, 2018; Stake, 1995). This allows for a comprehensive examination of contextualized facts and perceptions (Gagnon, 2010). The study focused on a single case, namely the sociocultural factors influencing parental engagement among first-generation migrant parents in the P. Oosterlee school. The selection of this case followed purposive judgmental sampling, driven by the possibility to select the case based on the personal judgment of the researcher (Babbie, 2018). The school's student demographics, institutional characteristics, and emphasized values made it a highly relevant case study for this research. Additionally, the school has highlighted their efforts in enhancing parent engagement (P. Oosterleeschool, 2019). A single case study was chosen to gain in-depth understanding of the parental engagement within this specific group of participants, rather than to compare realities across schools (Yin, 2003).

For the data collection, desk research was used, and focus groups and semi-structured interviews were carried out with the parents (see appendix 1 for participant list). Desk research involves gathering information from published sources, to contextualize and deepen the understanding of the topic (Woolley, 1992). This method included academic articles, government reports, and school reports. This offered the possibility to incorporate additional points of view to the study, by considering the academic perspective as well as the perception of the school and other actors in the neighborhood. This contextualization informed the section of Contextual Background, as well as facilitated a more engaged discussion in the focus groups. Focus groups provided a safe space for parents to share ideas and opinions, fostering discussion and capturing diverse interpretations of parental engagement among first-generation migrants (Cyr, 2019). Four focus groups, consisting of 2-4 parents each, were conducted with sessions lasting between one and a half to two hours. Open-ended questions and activities explored various dimensions of engagement and the sociocultural factors affecting them. Additionally, art-based methods were also integrated, where participants expressed their views through drawings, allowing for deeper reflection and understanding (Finley, 2008). An informal semi-structured interview was carried out with one of the participants to further explore her comments from the focus group. This participant was invited to take part in a follow up interview to clarify one of the points discussed during the focus group. Two translators attended two of the focus groups to facilitate the communication between the participants and the researcher.

There are some limitations related to the use of focus groups as a research method. Firstly, participants might be inclined to follow the dominant discourse raised in the focus group (Smithson, 2000). Additionally, due to the presence of various participants and the interactive style of the answers, the information gathered might be broad in nature but not capable of offering an in-depth understanding of the perceptions of the participants (Gibbs, 1997). In order to counter these possible limitations, a neutral and unbiased stance was adopted by the researcher throughout the discussion, allowing participants to express their diverse perspectives. Furthermore, participants were explicitly informed since the beginning that there were not correct or incorrect responses. To mitigate the issue of shallow information, follow-up questions were posed to clarify and delve deeper into the topics discussed. When necessary, individual follow-up interviews were conducted after the focus group.

Snowball sampling was used in combination with a purposive sample to select the participants for the research. Namely, contact with entrepreneurs and social workers of the neighborhood was established, who provided information on how to locate participants for the research. Additionally, direct contact on the street and social media were also used to reach first-generation migrant parents of the school. This facilitated the inclusion of a diverse group of participants in the research, enhancing the scope of perspectives considered. In order to obtain a representative sample of the parental body of the school, parents of different migratory origins were included in the data collection. As a result, eleven first-generation migrant parents from seven different countries of origin took part in the focus groups. Consequently, four focus groups were organized considering the country of origin of the participants, resulting in a focus group with mothers of North African origin, another with Sub-Saharan African mothers, another with Latino mothers, and a final one with mothers of Caribbean origin. This ensured that the sample had similar distribution characteristics as the parent community in the school considering their migratory origin (Babbie, 2018). A deductive approach was employed for the analysis, for which a priori codes were used to analyze the transcribed interviews with Atlas.ti. This facilitated a focused analysis of the information (Gibbs & Taylor, 2005).

3.4. Expectations

Based on the theoretical framework, several expectations emerge. Firstly, parents with fewer sociocultural factors limiting their integration into the educational institution are expected to exhibit higher levels of parental engagement across all variables studied. Secondly, parents facing more sociocultural factors limiting their integration in the educational institution are anticipated to demonstrate lower levels of engagement in the variables of parent-school/teacher communication and parent engagement in school activities (Epstein 2010), which are considered in the literature as traditional dimensions of parental engagement but may not be universally applicable (Chavkin, 1993). Additionally, the migratory context of these parents is expected to have a greater impact on these particular dimensions due to its demands on time and cultural and social resources. Thirdly, it is expected that a higher number of sociocultural factors limiting parents' integration into the educational institution will have a less significant effect on the dimensions of home-based engagement and parents' expectations of their children's education, which are encompassed in a more inclusive conceptualization of parental engagement and therefore would be less affected by

factors connected to societal integration. Finally, the study expects that parents who are highly affected by the sociocultural factor 'different approaches to parental engagement', will display low overall levels of parental engagement under the dimensions studied. Similarly, these parents will perceive that their unique methods are not adequately represented in the subdimensions explored in this study.

3.5. Ethical considerations

This section addresses ethical considerations in the study. Firstly, the chosen qualitative approach, unlike quantitative methods, does not allow for statistical generalization (Babbie, 2018). Nonetheless, it still provides valuable insights into the factors influencing parental involvement among first-generation migrants in the education system. Additionally, field research may introduce reliability concerns due to the researcher's personal biases when interpreting focus groups data. To mitigate this limitation, rigorous coding mechanisms were implemented to analyze interview responses (Babbie, 2018).

Prior to the data collection, it is essential to acknowledge the negative framing of immigrants in public opinion and the media, which might have influenced research on families with an immigrant background. This awareness is crucial during fieldwork, as migrant families often face vulnerable societal positions. Therefore, carrying out research that reviews the challenges that they might suffer for engaging in the education of their children might lead respondents to discomfort (Birman, 2006). To mitigate potential risks associated with this, respondents were informed about the study's purpose, the focus group process, the voluntary nature of their participation, and their ability to withdraw at any time (Zapata-Barrero & Yalaz, 2020). Similarly, after the process of data collection, data has been securely stored, ensuring confidentiality. During the data analysis, the researcher was mindful of personal bias, ensuring a consistent approach with the developed indicators. Finally, privacy and plagiarism concerns will be carefully considered during the publishing stage.

4. Contextual Background

4.1. The Hague Southwest

The Hague Southwest is an area in the city of The Hague suffering from various socio-economic issues, such as unemployment, debt, radicalization, feelings of insecurity, and health problems (Gemeente Den Haag, 2019b). Among these social issues, education has been highlighted as being particularly problematic in terms of outcomes. Especially, Moerwijk reflects the highest educational disadvantage of the four neighborhoods. This considers dimensions such as level of education, risk of falling behind in school, cito scores, and drop-outs (Zuidwest, 2022b).

To tackle some of these problems, the municipality of The Hague developed in 2019 an agreement called the Regio Deal (Zuidwest, 2022b). Considering the diversity among the residents of the region, the policy places a strong emphasis on emancipation and integration. This has been reflected in the development of programs guiding new residents toward work, language, and educational participation (Gemeente Den Haag, 2019b). With the aim to create a better future for the residents of The Hague Southwest, the agreement highlights that the conditions that youth are surrounded by in their present determine the future they will have. Ameliorating the education of the children is perceived as being a starting point for improving other dimensions, such as residence and work. The Region Deal believes that enhancing these interacting dimensions is key for the future development and social mobility of the residents of The Hague Southwest (Gemeente Den Haag, 2022a).

The financial and educational situation in The Hague Southwest, particularly in Moerwijk, remains under stress. For instance, 19,5% of households in the neighborhood rely on social assistance compared to 8,3% citywide. Additionally, 69,7% of households in Moerwijk fall into the low-income category, while the citywide figure is 48,1% (Gemeente Den Haag, 2022d). In terms of education, 47% of students in Moerwijk only complete the lowest level of high school, compared to 30% citywide. Similarly, 48% of toddlers and primary school students in Moerwijk face a significant risk of educational disadvantage, compared to 27% in The Hague (Gemeente Deen Haag, 2022c). Importantly, local actors of The Hague Southwest have identified the challenge of achieving an adequate parental engagement in the schooling of their children.

Indeed, parental engagement has been highlighted by the Regio Deal as a precondition for successful education for the youth in The Hague Southwest (Gemeente Den Haag, 2019a). The municipality of The Hague has shown a concern for low parental engagement among the parents of the four neighborhoods and therefore has directed some efforts to target this concern. This has involved for instance the promotion of parent officers, who are in charge of encouraging parents to participate in different activities as well as providing educational and career guidance (Gemeente Den Haag, 2022a). Similarly, the Childcare Participation Target Group aims to facilitate the engagement and participation of parents by offering them childcare support (Gemeente Den Haag, 2021).

4.2. P. Oosterlee school

P. Oosterlee School is a public Christian educational center located in Moerwijk, the neighborhood in The Hague Southwest with the largest proportion of residents of non-Dutch origin (Zuidwest, n.d.b). Similarly, 70% of the students at the school come from families with a 'non-Dutch cultural background'. Additionally, the school has also pointed to the existence of issues of diverse nature suffered by the families of many of the students (P. Oosterleeschool, 2019).

Another important factor to consider is that the school has placed enhancing parent engagement as one of its short- and long-term objectives (P. Oosterleeschool, 2019). The center believes that the active involvement of parents in the education of their children is important for the educational achievement of the students. For this reason, enhancing the communication of the school with the parents and their efforts to support parents in their engagement is one of their aims. This has led to the establishment of various initiatives and councils to achieve this objective, such as the creation of Dutch courses for parents to improve their language skills, as well as the establishment of a Participation Council (P. Oosterleeschool, 2019).

5. Empirical findings and analysis

This chapter delves into the findings derived from the research process. The section follows the general structure provided by the sub-questions and the operationalization table. Therefore, the first part of the chapter analyzes the way that first-generation migrant parents in the P. Oosterlee school engage in the education of their children. The second part of the chapter explores the sociocultural factors of the parents that affect their engagement.

5.1 Parental engagement of first-generation migrant parents

Following the line of reasoning presented in the operationalization table, this section presents the findings relating to the different dimensions of parental engagement. Doing so, this section will answer the first sub-question *"How do first-generation migrant parents in Moerwijk engage with the schooling of their children?"*

5.1.1. Home-based engagement

The findings from the four focus groups point to high participation in home-based activities by all the participant mothers. This included activities frequently mentioned in the literature and common to the four focus groups, as well as others more specific and different across the different sessions. All of the mothers expressed their role in supporting the education of their children through activities such as puzzles, games, drawing, and revising together the content learned in class. Additionally, they also stressed their role in supporting their children in following their passions as well as in encouraging them to work hard to improve themselves and excel.

However, it is important to consider that the different focus groups also brought forth unique strategies of home-based engagement, specific to their personal experiences and cultural background. For instance, the Sub-Saharan African mothers stressed the importance of controlling and managing the screen time of their children to avoid their overuse of electronics. In order to do this, there was a strong encouragement to engage in creative or academic activities instead. Conversely, in the group represented by the Moroccan mothers, homework was emphasized as an essential tool for the educational achievement of their children. The mothers would take all the available opportunities to bring their children to the homework club taking place in the Wijkcenter and support them with revising the school content with online resources as well. Similarly, the focus group composed of the Latina mothers emphasized the importance of communication with

their children. A strong emphasis was placed on talking with their children about their progress at school, as well as instilling in them the value of education and its importance in determining the outcome of their future.

Moreover, some practices were shared among various focus groups. For instance, in the focus groups comprising the sub-Saharan African mothers and the Latino mothers, the importance of instilling certain conducts or norms of good behavior emerged as a significant practice. This involved behavior towards other individuals in society, such as teachers. For instance, one of the mothers stated: "Aside that they are your teacher, they are other people's mommies. So you don't call them by their name. You don't say their names straight. You say "Juf" (Miss) and then you add the name." Enforcing good behavior in the household, such as cleaning up after yourself or being on time for curfew; was also used by the mothers to show their children wider lessons of society, such as the value of education for reaching economic well-being, or the importance of rules for peaceful cohabitation in society. Similarly, the importance of teaching them the value of hard work was also commonly highlighted in both the focus groups of sub-Saharan African mothers and Moroccan mothers. In contrast, a common strategy emphasized in both the focus groups of the Latino mothers and the Caribbean mothers was emotional support. Showing trust in their capabilities and supporting their children in whatever they wanted to achieve without lowering their self-esteem in case of unexpected results was identified as a means of better assisting them with their education.

5.1.2. Parent-school/teacher communication

The focus groups comprised by the Moroccan mothers and the Caribbean mothers demonstrated a strong connection with the school, attributing a high importance to a frequent communication with the teachers. Aside from the trimestral meetings with the teachers, other communicative instances with the teachers were attempted to check up on the children's progress. The Moroccan mothers emphasized an active communicative initiation to check up on the progress of their children or the outcomes of an exam. The Caribbean mothers, however, claim to be able to achieve less engagement than they would have desired because of certain challenges in communication, such as limited attention received by the teachers or different communication styles.

Conversely, the insights from the focus groups with the sub-Saharan African and Latino mothers point to a more infrequent communication with the school. For the sub-Saharan African mothers, communication with the teachers primarily occurred during the trimestral report pick-up and additional contact instances were reduced to matters of misbehavior or illness of the child. Additionally, the mothers with online presence highlighted the school website and email as an additional method of communication. Aside from the trimestral meetings, the Latino mothers also reflected a willingness to make use of any available communication channel to tackle urgent matters, such as bullying incidents, despite the existing bureaucratic challenges. Furthermore, nonattendance to parents' evenings or gatherings was a common insight gained across all the focus groups, motivated by a lack of opportunities.

5.1.3. Parent expectation of child's education

The importance attributed to education emerged as a significant theme, reflecting the shared belief among the participant mothers of the transformative power of education for the future of their children. The Moroccan mothers view education as a means to ensure a future economic stability in the life of their children and enable them to purchase their own house. This could have been further accentuated by their migratory background, shaped by their hope to offer a better life for their children. Similarly, the insights from the sub-Saharan African mothers' focus group frame education as a gateway for their children to reach their career aspirations and pursue their passions. Similarly, the importance of determination and encouragement for academic excellence was also observed, including reaching higher education. For instance, one of the sub-Saharan African mothers expressed "I did not go to school. I want my baby to go to school to learn and be something in the future. I don't want to stop anything from her. If anything comes her way, she can do it for herself. And then she can be a doctor, a lawyer, and yeah."

The Latino mothers also considered education as a precious tool with the potential to open doors for the future of their children. Education was perceived as instrumental in shaping the type of jobs that the children would have, which in turn would influence their overall life prospects. Additionally, education was also perceived as a tool for personal self-development. The well-being of the children was another important consideration, with the mothers emphasizing the importance of supporting and encouraging the children to reach their full potential without being discouraged by societal pressures or teachers' attitudes. The perceived diverse range of career possibilities was seen to encourage one of the mothers to allow their children to follow their passions, even if it did not involve pursuing higher education but engaging in manual work instead.

Similarly, the Caribbean focus group underlined a perceived strong correlation between education, securing a good job, and achieving an economically successful future. Similarly to the Moroccan mothers' perspectives, education was also viewed as a means to achieve the goal of homeownership. Moreover, it is important to consider that the mothers reflected a desire to not impose rigid expectations on their children, but to encourage and support them in their journey towards improvement instead. Education was also seen as a catalyst for personal growth, fostered by motivation and hard work, and as a tool for understanding societal norms.

5.1.4. Parent engagement in school activities

The sub-Saharan African mothers reflected notably low level of participation in school activities, which seems to be strongly affected by a perceived lack of opportunities to engage and to participate in decision-making processes in the school. In contrast, the focus group with the Latino mothers pointed to a higher level of participation, particularly in field trips organized for the students. However, their participation was expressed to be declining due to a perceived reduction in opportunities provided by the school. In other activities designed for parents and in decision-making processes of the school, their engagement remained relatively low.

Similarly, the insights from the focus group with the Moroccan mothers indicate a moderate level of participation. Their willingness to participate stemmed from their motivation to support their children, practice their language skills, and connect with other parents of the school. However, they also expressed a sense of limited opportunities available, echoing the concern raised by the sub-Saharan African mothers. Notably, their engagement was more prominent in school activities taking place in partnership with the Wijkcenter, such as attending and volunteering in the homework club or participating in workshops for parents.

Lastly, the Caribbean mothers exhibited a remarkably high level of participation in school activities. They eagerly seized opportunities, particularly in volunteering in field trips, and one mother held multiple roles among the parent body, including being a member of the Parents' Council, a Classroom Parent, and an active volunteer in the Wijkcenter, engaging in activities involving the children of the school. Their active presence in school activities was driven by their

children's contentment, a desire to support fellow parents and a wish to leave a positive legacy within the school community. Additionally, the mothers recognized the potential of this engagement for supporting parents' language learning and personal development.

To conclude, this section addresses the first sub-question. The focus groups with the firstgeneration migrant mothers from different geographical origins revealed a diverse range of parental engagement approaches, showing varying levels of involvement across the four explored categories and demonstrating unique strategies. Home-based engagement included common activities such as homework revision and puzzle-making, yet each group displayed unique approaches and interpretations to home-based engagement, highlighting the significance of the diversity of viewpoints. Parent-school communication varied, with some mothers reflecting active communication with the teachers while others faced some barriers. The insights from the focus group consistently highlighted high expectations among the mothers, framing education as a pathway to a better future, comprising personal growth, career aspirations, and economic stability. Furthermore, engagement in school activities showcased great variation among the mothers, with certain groups, like the sub-Saharan African women, reflecting lower participation due to perceived limited opportunities, while others actively engaged in school activities to make a positive impact within the school community.

5.2. Socio-cultural factor affecting parental engagement

This chapter describes and analyzes the sociocultural factors affecting the experiences of firstgeneration migrant parents in the P. Oosterlee school. Doing this will answer the second subquestion: "How do sociocultural factors affect the integration of first-generation migrant parents in Moerwijk into the educational institution?"

5.2.1. Language & (cultural) literacy

The analysis of the data collected from the focus groups reveals distinct patterns and challenges related to the role of language and cultural literacy in shaping the mothers' experiences. Across the groups, language proficiency and literacy emerged as influential factors in their experiences. The sub-Saharan African mothers' group stressed the challenges on navigating a different educational system than their own. Language proficiency was a concern, with some mothers showing difficulty in writing and communicating their thoughts effectively in Dutch. The

confluence of limited language proficiency and perceived constraints in accessing comprehensive school information due to digitalization processes, presented additional challenges to their experiences with the school. Nevertheless, their command of the English language, stemming from their background, also facilitated in some respects their engagement within the school. Within the focus group comprised of Moroccan mothers, language barriers were prominent. Limited Dutch proficiency as well as low computer literacy were identified as having a large impact in their experiences. These mothers expressed a desire to improve their Dutch command, indicating their motivation to overcome these language-related challenges.

Despite reflecting fewer challenges in language literacy, the focus groups comprised by Latina mothers and by Caribbean mothers revealed the presence of other barriers related to cultural literacy shaping their integration into the educational institution. In the focus group comprised by the Latina mothers, a similar trend of adjusting to a different educational system was noticed. Differences in teaching methods, particularly in subjects like mathematics, represented a challenge for these migrant mothers. Furthermore, one mother conveyed her struggle with assertive communication due to her partial Dutch proficiency, leading her to rely on family members for support in navigating such interactions. Additionally, another mother perceived bilingualism within their household as a handicap for navigating certain situations compared to native speaker families. The Caribbean mothers' focus group presented a high level of Dutch proficiency, shaped by their migratory origin, that facilitated their daily experiences regarding the education of their children. However, they recognized the potential impact of language barriers on other mothers' engagement and underlined the cultural nuances that could affect the experiences of migrant mothers in the school.

5.2.2. Work situation

The Moroccan mothers in the focus group generally did not work or expressed that it was not a significant factor that affected them. Similarly, the sub-Saharan African mothers did not work or work part-time, indicating that their work did not directly influence their engagement. Within the Caribbean mothers' focus group, the mothers had made the decision to stop working to be able to give more time and attention to their children. They perceived that combining work, household responsibilities, and attending to their children's needs was challenging. Similarly, among the

Latina mothers' focus groups, work was not perceived as challenging their experiences regarding their children's education.

Importantly, the significance attributed by the mothers to the complicated balance between work and their engagement cannot be overlooked. For some mothers, especially those in the Caribbean mothers and African mothers' focus group, the decision to work or not work was often tied to their ability to dedicate enough time to their children. In these cases, the decision to leave the workforce or reduce the working hours was driven by a desire to be more present in their children's life and to ensure that they could more actively participate in their education. Similarly, among the Latina mothers' focus groups it was emphasized that work would never impede their engagement since anything related to the children would take precedence.

5.2.3. School attitudes towards parents

The attitudes of school towards parents played a significant role in shaping the experience of these first-generation migrant mothers. At the same time, varying perceptions and experiences across the different groups can also be highlighted. On one hand, the focus group composed by the Moroccan mothers generally expressed contentment and a positive relationship with the school staff, facilitating their integration. However, clashes in character between teachers and parents were perceived, potentially linked to cultural differences. The lack of diversity among the school staff was also highlighted as a hindrance to a complete understanding of the school towards the migrant parents. The Caribbean mothers focus group pointed to relatively positive school's attitudes towards parents, however with some concerns being raised. One mother shared her daughter's experience of suffering bullying with racist undertones, which was not resolved as quickly as it should have been by the school. It is important to note that the perceptions of the director were mixed, highlighting that some mothers might have expressed feelings of intimidation due to her strong demeanor, while her efforts to support non-Dutch speaking parents in engaging with her were acknowledged and appreciated. Additionally, the group expressed a shared sentiment that some teachers showed little interest in engaging with parents, especially with those from non-Dutch backgrounds. This differential treatment also extended to the attention given to non-Dutch children, leading to similar divisive dynamics among the students.

On the other hand, the perspectives shared by the sub-Saharan African mothers and Latina mothers reflect a more adverse impact of the school's attitudes towards parents. Among the sub-Saharan African group, some mothers expressed a sense of being misunderstood or unheard by the school. For instance, one mother voiced her concern about the school's decision to provide tablets to all students, despite notifying them that her child already had one at home. This made her feel as if the school had disregarded her input, potentially resulting in financial burdens if the device were to be damaged. Furthermore, there was a perception that the school's attitude towards parents is to support children "according to their abilities", which was perceived by the mothers to discourage children to strive for improvement. However, overall, the sub-Saharan African mothers claimed to feel welcomed in the school environment. Within the Latina mothers' focus groups, there was a perception of bias from the school, especially regarding considerations of the parents' migratory background and skills when making decisions about students, such as determining their level placement. Some mothers also expressed that the teachers' rigid teaching methods limited their ability to support their children with schoolwork. While there where instances of unsatisfactory interaction with the director, the Latina mothers did not perceive that they received differential treatment because of their migratory background. However, there were concerns about the school's lack of inclusivity and insufficient respect for cultural differences.

5.2.4. Household situation

Among the sub-Saharan African mothers, a lack of trust in childcare services was observed to be a prevailing concern. Several mothers shared negative experiences, highlighting issues such as inadequate attention or lack of notice regarding their children's ill-being. These accounts reflect a common skepticism towards external care arrangements and a preference for direct maternal involvement in childcare. However, this was not considered to be challenging their integration into the educational institution.

In contrast, the focus group composed by the Moroccan mothers pointed to challenges related to limited resources and space within their households. The constraints of living in two-room apartments emerged as a recurring theme, challenging adequate study environments for their children. Additionally, time constraints and household responsibilities were raised as an extra challenge affecting their experiences.

Among the Caribbean mothers' focus group, single motherhood emerged as an important factor. Participants emphasized the challenges associated with balancing multiple responsibilities, including addressing mental health issues. Additionally, societal expectations of being present at home when husbands are around and the need for personal time after dropping off the children at school were considered potential factors affecting some of the mothers at the school. Conversely, the focus groups with the Latina mothers did not perceive any specific household situation significantly influencing their experiences.

5.2.5. Different values and approaches to parental engagement

Different values and approaches to parental engagement also emerged as a significant aspect influencing the experiences of the participant mothers. The data revealed a variety of perspectives and potential tensions between the mothers' approaches and the school's expectations. The sub-Saharan African mothers demonstrated a clear contrast in child-rearing practices between their country of origin and the Netherlands. Some of the mothers expressed difficulty in instilling their own cultural ways of upbringing due to the influence of the Dutch societal norms. This discrepancy manifested in conflicting views on engagement, especially concerning academic expectations. While they felt that the school emphasized supporting their children "according to their capabilities", some mothers desired to push their children to strive for greater achievements. Additionally, differences in manners and behavior between their own culture and the Dutch culture were underlined, which further accentuated the contrasting interpretation of parental engagement. Similarly, the focus group with the Moroccan mothers also shed light on the differences in children rearing practices between their culture and the Dutch context. Moreover, there was a prevailing sentiment that the school had difficulty understanding parents' needs and ways of supporting their children's education, potentially stemming from the lack of diversity among school staff.

Within the Latina mothers, concerns were raised regarding the perceived leniency and slower pace of education in the Netherlands compared to their own cultural backgrounds. In addition, a key aspect of their engagement in the education of their children was prioritizing the happiness of their children and providing them with the necessary support to achieve that goal. The mothers emphasized the importance of teaching them values and life skills at home as a fundamental aspect of their engagement, which was not often acknowledged by the school. They also expressed a desire for their children to engage in more creative assignments, contrasting with the structured educational approached they perceived in the school. Furthermore, the mothers felt that the school's emphasis on technology contradicted their own intention to limit their children's attachment to electronic devices.

The Caribbean mothers also shared unique insights into their understanding of parental engagement. They expressed the belief that being present for their children and fulfilling their transportation needs for appointments and activities was a significant way for them to engage in their children's education. These mothers also highlighted the contrasting styles of giving feedback, perceiving the Dutch approach too harsh and direct compared to their own cultural norms. Additionally, similar to the insights shared by the sub-Saharan African mothers, the Caribbean mothers felt that their approach involved motivating their children to strive for improvement and exert greater effort in their studies, in contrast to what they perceived as a more lenient approach of the school.

To conclude, this section responded to the second sub-question. Five key factors were examined: language and cultural literacy, work situation, school's attitudes towards parents, household situations, and a difference in values and approaches to parental engagement. Language and cultural barriers presented challenges for communication and understanding, while school attitudes affected parental experiences due to a lack of diversity among the school staff and inadequate understanding and support for diverse cultural backgrounds. Moreover, the different values and approaches to parental engagement stemming from diverse cultural backgrounds shape the mothers' interactions with the school and their participation in the education of their children, leading to tensions and misunderstandings. The work situation of the parents played a role in shaping their availability and involvement in their children's education. Likewise, within the household situation factor, the living conditions and the structure of the household, including the presence of extended family members or the absence of a support system, had an impact on their experiences.

6. Discussion and conclusion

6.1. Conclusion

After analyzing how do first-generation migrant mothers in the P. Oosterlee school engage in the education of their children and the ways in which sociocultural factors affect their integration in the educational institution, the main research question can be answered: *"How do sociocultural factors influence parental engagement levels among first-generation migrant parents in Moerwijk regarding the education of their children?"*

The analysis of the two sub-questions uncovers the substantial influence of sociocultural factors on some aspects of parental engagement, both positively and negatively. However, these factors appear to have minimal influence on other aspects. Firstly, home-based engagement remained largely unaffected by the sociocultural factors examined. All mothers stressed high engagement in home-based activities, employing conventional strategies frequently mentioned in the literature like homework assistance and reading together (Epstein, 2010). Additionally, the focus groups highlighted additional actions undertaken by the mothers that are rarely acknowledge among the mainstream discussions of home-based engagement. These included engaging in communicative and performative acts to show them the value of money and hard work, as well as fostering a positive atmosphere surrounding their children's educational journey. While certain factors influenced the experiences of the mothers, they did not impede their overall engagement. For instance, despite facing language and educational barriers when assisting their children with homework, the mothers found alternative ways to engage, such as utilizing the homework club at the Wijkcenter. The household situation had mixed effects, with limited resources and space posing challenges, while the presence of extended family members provided additional support, particularly in terms of helping with homework. Conversely, work situations and school attitudes towards parents did not significantly negatively impact home-based engagement. Indeed, some mothers claimed that to give more attention and time to their children, they had chosen to stop working altogether. Similarly, different values and approaches to parental engagement did not affect the overall home-engagement of the mothers but offered diverse perspectives on this dimension.

Regarding parent-school communication, the findings reveal a nuanced role of sociocultural factors. On one hand, language barriers and cultural differences posed significant challenges for some parents in effectively communicating with school staff. Despite their active presence in the trimestral meetings, limited fluency in the Dutch language might have hindered other communication instances. These findings align with Vinopal's (2017) notion of cultural capital, as the mothers' limited familiarity with linguistic and cultural aspects potentially impeded their engagement in communicative interactions. However, the mothers displayed resourcefulness and resilience in finding alternative ways to overcome these barriers, such as seeking assistance from other family members. School attitudes reflected both positive and negative effects. Some mothers highlighted the school's efforts to facilitate the communication with non-Dutch speakers, while others mentioned a possible mismatch and tensions between the mothers and the school staff, as acknowledged by Carlislie et al. (2005), potentially alienating the mothers. Similarly, some mothers claimed an insufficient respect from the school towards cultural differences, which might have also pushed them away. The household and work situations had varying effects, with a few mothers experiencing challenges attending school meetings due to their household or work circumstances. However, these factors did not significantly impact parent-school communication in most cases. This could be attributed to the perceived positive arrangements made by the school to accommodate diverse situations or to the mothers' prioritization of ensuring effective communication. Similarly, the interaction between mothers and the school may have been influenced by different values and approaches to parental engagement, including cultural differences in understandings communication with authority figures, as expressed by Bernhard et al. (1988) and Moles (1993).

In terms of the mothers' expectations for their child's education, sociocultural factors had varied influence. While some factors had limited impact, others exerted a significant positive influence. The parents' cultural background, educational experiences, and social expectations positively shaped their aspirations for their children's academic success. Education was considered as an essential tool for achieving important elements in life, such as homeownership, personal growth, or economic stability. Work situation and school attitudes had minimal impact, although cultural literacy played a significant role. The mothers frequently emphasized instilling a strong work ethic and motivation in their children to excel, reflecting their deep-rooted aspiration to provide them with opportunities they themselves had not had. Similarly, the impact of household situations was

evident through their migratory background and the desire for a better future for their children. This influenced their expectations and fueled their determination for their children to excel. Additionally, different approaches to parental engagement also influenced their expectations, with mothers taking a proactive role in encouraging their children to strive for excellence, contrary to the perceived lenient approach of the school.

Lastly, regarding parental engagement in school activities, sociocultural factors had significant impacts. Factors such as time constraints due to work obligations and language barriers could limit parent's active participation. Similarly, previous negative experiences with the school were perceived to influence some of the mothers' participation. Household situations, such as distrust in external care facilities might have similarly limit their participation. However, despite these challenges, many mothers remained committed to engaging in school-related activities, driven by a desire to be actively involved in their child's educational journey. Although the direct influence of different values and approaches to parental engagement on school activities was not explicitly identified, it is possible that the absence of interest among certain mothers could be influenced by divergent values.

In conclusion, the findings revealed significant impacts of sociocultural factors on parental engagement. Home-based engagement remained largely unaffected, while parent-school communication faced challenges derived mainly from cultural and linguistic differences, although resourcefulness helped overcome them. Parental expectations of their children's education was found to be positively affected by the studied sociocultural factors, especially by the mothers' cultural and educational background and the household situations. Conversely, sociocultural factors had the strongest impact on parent engagement in school activities, as language barriers and school's attitudes towards parents were found to challenge their participation in these activities.

6.1.1. Reviewing expectations

Having answered the main research question, the expectations formulated in the theoretical review can be examined. Firstly, regarding the expectation that parents with fewer sociocultural factors limiting their integration into the educational institution would exhibit higher parental engagement, the findings generally support this notion. In dimensions characterized by significant variations in engagement, such as engagement in school activities and communication, it was observed that mothers who actively participated the most also expressed being negatively affected by fewer sociocultural factors. However, when considering the dimensions of parent's expectations of their children education and home-based engagement, the expectation is not supported. Mothers affected by fewer sociocultural factors did not show higher engagement in these dimensions compared to those affected by more factors.

Secondly, the expectation that parents with a higher number of sociocultural factors limiting their integration would have lower levels of engagement in parent-school communication and engagement in school activities was partially supported. The findings indicated that language barriers and cultural differences, as well as previous negative experiences with the school, posed challenges for some mothers in effectively communicating with the school. Similarly, the mothers with lower engagement in school activities were affected by a higher number of sociocultural factors, such as language barriers, schools' attitudes, and household situations. This suggest that these forms of engagement may not be universally applicable, despite being considered as traditional dimensions of parental engagement in the literature (Epstein, 2010). However, it is important to note that despite these challenges, many mothers displayed resourcefulness and resilience in finding alternative ways to overcome the barriers. Even though the studied sociocultural factors influenced these dimensions, they did not necessarily lead to a complete absence of engagement by the mothers, which reflects a process of social integration (Blanco & Umayahara, 2004).

Thirdly, the expectations that a higher number of sociocultural factors affecting their experiences would not seriously impact home-based engagement and mothers' expectations of their children's education was supported by the findings. The insights highlight that despite encountering certain barriers, the mothers found alternative ways to engage in the home environment. Additionally, the mothers' expectations for their children's education were positively shaped by their background and experiences.

Lastly, the expectation that mothers who perceive different approaches to parental engagement as a relevant sociocultural factor would show lower overall engagement, was partially supported. While a direct influence on overall engagement was not identified, it is possible that a low engagement in some of the dimensions could have been influenced by divergent values. Despite this, their engagement was not perceived to be inadequately represented in the explored dimensions, reflecting that the dimensions considered for this study were comprehensive and inclusive enough to encompass the various strategies employed by the mothers.

6.2. Discussion

This final chapter provides a reflection of the main findings, outlining its main contributions and limitations. Lastly, recommendations for future research and policy makers will be laid out.

The purpose of this study was to investigate the way that first-generation migrant parents engage in the education of their children and the effect that sociocultural factors had upon it. Overall, the findings revealed that sociocultural factors had a significant impact on various aspects of parental engagement, both positively and negatively. The negative impact of sociocultural factors was of diverse nature and align with the observations made by several authors in the literature (Bernhard et al., 1988; Marschall, 2006; Schneider & Arnot, 2018; Vinopal, 2017). However, this study also highlights the positive effects that these sociocultural factors had on parental engagement, which differs from the prevailing perspective commonly discussed in the literature.

The findings of this study also provide valuable insights into the complex dynamics of immigrant integration and participation in schools. The insights point to the disadvantages faced my migrant mothers for engaging in the education of their children, which could translate into the educational disadvantages of immigrant-origin children acknowledged in the literature (Alba et al., 2011; Heath & Cheung 2007; Heath et al., 2008). This aligns with the emphasis placed by Alba et al. (2011) and Sam and Berry (2010) on the importance of providing support to migrant families for acquiring sociocultural skills that enable their full integration into society. However, building on Vinopal's (2017) perspective, this study also highlights that immigrant integration should not be solely linked to a predetermined model of parental engagement. Rather, it emphasizes the importance of multiple interpretations of parental engagement that effectively support the children's education and acquirement of cultural capital, ultimately facilitating their integration through educational achievements (Turney and Kao, 2009). Similarly, the findings of this study align with López's (2001) argument viewing marginalized forms of parental engagement as a source of counter-story. The findings present that the mothers are already involved in their children's education, including creative ways not widely acknowledged. The diversity of

aspirations, expectations and strategies used by the mothers reflect funds of knowledge with a potential to positively impact the educational journey of the students. Validating and searching for better ways to capitalize on marginalized forms of involvement could better promote success for all students.

This study provides valuable contributions for the field of parental engagement and immigrant integration, as well as for policy makers and school managers. Based on the identified gaps on the literature, research contributions have been identified. Firstly, gaps in the existing literature are addressed by examining why certain parents are less involved than others. Specially, the research methodology employed in this study places the experiences and perspectives of the parents at the forefront. The use of focus groups facilitated the data collection of firsthand insights from a diverse range of mothers, ensuring a comprehensive exploration of their viewpoints. Secondly, this study contributes to the understanding of parental engagement specially focusing on first-generation migrant communities, a field understudied in the literature. Given the increasing diversity of cities influenced by changing migration patterns, it is crucial to recognize the challenges faced by migrants engaging in their children's education. Thirdly, existing research on the topic has largely focused on the contexts of the United States of America. This research expands the existing body of literature on parent engagement by focusing specifically on the Dutch context, with a special emphasis on the neighborhood of Moerwijk. Considering the municipality of The Hague's efforts to enhance immigrant educational integration and improve educational standards in the region, this study holds significant relevance.

6.2.1. Limitations

Despite the interesting insights and contributions, this study has limitations to consider. Firstly, the selection of participants for the focus group relied on purposive judgmental and snowball sampling, which may have resulted in an inaccurate representation of the overall parent population at the school. The researcher faced challenges reaching mothers and relied heavily on local contacts and networking strategies, potentially excluding voices of mothers with low social capital or limited community centers contact. Accordingly, there are implications regarding representation, encompassing not only migratory background but also diverse social circles and lifestyles (Qin, 2017). This represents a threat to external validity and therefore to the generalization of the results. Nevertheless, the study attempted to address these limitations by including participants from

diverse backgrounds and using multiple recruitment strategies. Secondly, it is important to consider the potential bias and shaping of responses due to the sensitive nature of the research topic and existing societal pressures and expectations (Smithson, 2000). This could have been further accentuated by the employment of focus groups instead of one-to-one interviews, as the presence of the researcher and other participants may have influenced participants' responses (Daley, 2013). This might have made the participants prone to following the dominant perspective discussed in the focus group rather than sharing their own perspectives. However, efforts were made to promote homogeneity among the focus groups participants based on regional backgrounds to enhance comfort and encourage participation (Liamputtong, 2011). It is important to consider that this approach may inadvertently lead to a "collective" voice rather than a diverse range of opinions (Krueger, 2014). To mitigate this, participants were assured that there were no right or wrong answers, and they were encouraged to freely express all their thoughts and perceptions.

6.3. Recommendations

From this study, several recommendations can be made for future research. Firstly, future studies could incorporate mixed-method approaches, combining quantitative data on engagement levels with qualitative data capturing the perspectives of parents, teachers, and children. This could involve additional methods such as shadowing, interviews, and surveys. This approach would provide a more comprehensive and balanced understanding of parental engagement, allowing for a holistic insight into the complex dynamics involved. Secondly, future research could consider the inclusion of fathers in the study to explore their role in their children's education. This could incorporate a gendered lens, to better understand the lived realities of gender difference. Lastly, an examination of parental engagement across diverse educational settings would be of great value, including different schools within a country, but also across countries. These comparative studies can provide a broader perspective on effective strategies fostering parental engagement.

Considering the significance of the topic, this study also presents recommendations for policymakers and educational institutions. Firstly, the findings highlight the importance of implementing culturally responsive practices in schools to incorporate the diverse backgrounds and experiences of families. This could involve supporting professional development opportunities for teachers focusing on cultural competency and culturally responsive teaching strategies. By providing teachers with the necessary training and resources, they would be able to effectively

engage with diverse families, gain a deeper understanding of their cultural contexts, and foster strong partnerships. Additionally, the integration of culturally relevant materials and resources could further enhance parental participation by fostering a more welcoming and inclusive environment. Furthermore, it is recommended to prioritize the recruitment of a diverse staff within schools, which could greatly improve understanding and communication.

Secondly, another crucial recommendation revolves around ensuring clear and effective communication between school and parents regarding expectations for parental engagement. A perceived lack of engagement may stem from parents' lack of awareness or understanding of what is expected from them, as well as a limited support and recognition for their existing efforts. To address this, a comprehensive guideline outlining specific expectations could be developed. These guidelines should be communicated to parents in culturally sensitive and accessible manners, while simultaneously recognizing and valuing various forms of parental engagement. Furthermore, schools should establish effective channels of communication to foster and facilitate collaboration between parents and school staff.

Thirdly, a need to recognize and value different forms of parental engagement is essential. Policymakers and schools should acknowledge and value the diverse ways in which parents engage in their children's education. Rather than solely focusing on traditional measures such as attending parent-teachers' meetings or volunteering in school events, it is important to recognize that parents contribute to their children's education in multifaced ways. By recognizing and valuing these diverse forms of parental engagement, parents will feel more acknowledged and respected for their unique contributions, which could serve as a motivation to further increase their engagement and work together with schools as partners in the learning process of the children.

To conclude, the aim of this study was to explore the ways in which first-generation migrant parents engage in the education of their children and the sociocultural factors that affect their engagement. By recognizing the multifaceted nature of parental engagement, valuing diverse contributions, and providing the necessary support and resources, a more inclusive and effective educational system can be created that empowers both parents and children. It is crucial to acknowledge the shared aspirations of mothers and teachers in making a meaningful contribution in the educational journey of children. As expressed by one mother during a focus group discussion,

the universal desire for a child's success resonates strongly: "Who does not want her child to excel?". Looking ahead, it is essential to build upon these insights and continue working towards creating an inclusive and encouraging educational environment that fully harnesses the potential role of parents, teachers, and students in enhancing the educational journey.

Appendix

Appendix 1: List of Participants

Name	Origin	Participant type
1	North-African	North-African origin focus
		group
2	North-African	North-African origin focus
		group
3	North-African	North-African origin focus
		group
4	North-African	North-African origin focus
		group & interview
5	Sub-Saharan African	Sub-Saharan African origin
		focus group
6	Sub-Saharan African	Sub-Saharan African origin
		focus group
7	Sub-Saharan African	Sub-Saharan African origin
		focus group
8	Latino	Latino origin focus group
9	Latino	Latino origin focus group
10	Caribbean	Caribbean origin focus group
11	Caribbean	Caribbean origin focus group

Appendix 2: Consent form

Information sheet and consent form Information sheet

Introduction

My name is Paula Medina Agromayor and I am a master's student of the program Governance of Migration and Diversity at Erasmus University. For my master's thesis I am researching parental engagement of first-generation migrant parents in the P. Oosterlee school. I would like to learn about the different ways that parents engage in the schooling of their children and the sociocultural factors that are engaging their engagement.

If you would like to know more about my research, you can contact me at paula.medinaagro@gmail.com

Data collection

The questions that the participant will be asked are about their engagement in the schooling of their children, such as their communication with the school or home-based engagement. Similarly, other questions will refer to sociocultural factors affecting their engagement, such as language and cultural literacy, perception of the school's attitude towards them, or differences in understanding of parental engagement.

The data will be collected through focus groups and interviews if necessary. The conversations will be recorded and then transcribed to facilitate the analysis of the information.

Potential inconvenience & risks

There are no physical, legal, or economic risks associated with your participation in this study. It is not mandatory to answer all questions. Your participation is voluntary, and you can stop at any time.

Reimbursement

Participation in this research study on parental engagement will not include any financial compensation or incentives for the participants. The purpose of this study is to enhance the education of the children by establishing a better understanding of the parental engagement perceptions and the challenges faced by parents in getting involved in their children's education. The data obtained from the interviews and focus groups will be used to create recommendations to strengthen the relationship between migrant parents and schools. Your contribution to this study is extremely valuable and your participation will have a positive impact on the education of future generations.

Confidentiality & data protection

The collected data will be used for an aggregated analysis and no confidential information or personal data will be included in the research outcome. The data will be stored in a secure location and will be kept for 10 years.

Data sharing

I will share the data with my thesis supervisor Mark van Ostaijen and Erasmus University for the purpose of researching and writing my master thesis mandatory for completion of my studies at Erasmus School of Social and Behavioural Sciences, Erasmus University.

Voluntary participation & individual rights

Your participation is voluntary and you can stop at any time. When you participate in the research, you have the rights to request more information about the data collection, analysis or withdraw the consent and ask data erasure before the dataset is anonymized or manuscript submitted for publishing. You can exercise your rights by contacting Paula Medina Agromayor at paula.medinaagro@gmail.com

If you have any complaints regarding the processing of personal data in this research, please contact Paula Medina Agromayor

Consent form Parental engagement of first-generation migrant *parents*

Upon signing of this consent form, I confirm that:

- I've been informed about the purpose of the research, data collection and storage as explained in the information sheet;
- I've read the information sheet, or it has been read to me;
- I've had an opportunity to ask questions about the study; the questions have been answered sufficiently;
- I voluntarily agree to participate in this research;
- I understand that the information will be treated confidentially;
- I understand that I can stop participation any time or refuse to answer any questions without any consequences;
- I understand that I can withdraw my consent before the dataset is submitted for approval.

Additionally, I give permission to:

	Yes	No
I give permission to audio record the interview		
I give permission to use quotes from my interview		

Name of research participant:

Date:

Signature:

Appendix 3: Focus group structure

1. Introduction

Welcome participants and invite them to partake in refreshments. Introduce myself. We do a round where everyone says their name and one thing that they like doing in their free time [icebreaker]. When everyone is sited > vaguely introduce my research project > 'My project seeks to understand the ways that first-generation migrant parents engage in the education of their children'. Explain the ground rules for focus group

- Read the focus group declaration out loud
- Highlight that their participation is entirely voluntary and anonymous; there is no right answer, their answers will be taped
 - Their answers will appear anonymously in any publications
- Participants must knowingly consent to these things >> when fully informed, they can sign the consent form.

2. Initial questions

[Art-method used to start the discussion]

- 'In this piece of paper, you have to draw whatever comes to your mind when you think of the idea of parental engagement. There is no right answer, and it does not have to be a specially beautiful drawing. It is just to bring ourselves into the mindset and topic of this focus group. After a couple of minutes, we will briefly share with each other what we tried to represent in our drawing.

3. The heart of the focus group

'From here we are going to move into reflecting about different ways of engagement. Firstly, I would like all of you to think about the ways you engage in the education of your children in the home setting. Particularly, I would like you to focus on three things. How important it is for you and how frequently you talk with your children about school; your engagement with their homework; and the ways in which you create a home environment that supports the learning of your children. I'll give you a minute or two to think about it, and then we can go around the table to share your thoughts with each other. You are welcome to think of other ways in which you engage with their school in the home setting.'

'What about the communication with the teachers and the school? I'm curious about how you approach this topic. In this case I would like you to focus on how frequently you talk with the teachers or school mentors, how frequently do you attend individual meetings with teachers, how frequently do you attend parent's evenings and how frequently do you return communication attempts by the school. For each of the four topics, think of how frequently you do this, rarely, sometimes, or frequently; and why, and note it down if you would like to. After a minute, we will go around the table, and I would like you to elaborate on your answers.'

'Now, I would like you to think about your expectations for your children regarding education. Why do you think education is important? What do you expect from your children regarding school? How important is it for you that your children reach high levels of education?' 'I would like you to engage with your artistic self again. I would like you to think of what is it that your children like about school and try to represent it in a simple drawing. After a couple of minutes, we will go around the table and explain what you drew to each other.'

'Reflecting on your own practices, how important do you think it is for parents to know about how are their children doing in school and why?'

'Now I would like to know about your engagement in school activities. I would like you to think for a minute if you engage in any activity at the school itself to support the education of your children.'

'In what activities do you engage in the school itself?' 'Do you volunteer in any of the activities that the school organizes?' 'Do you try to get involved in any of the decision-making processes of the school?'

[5 MINUTE BREAK]

'In this second part I want you to reflect on the factors that influence your engagement in the schooling of your children. I am going to give you four sticky notes to each of you and you are going to write in each of them a factor that negatively or positively affects your engagement in the education of your children. You should write between 1-3 words in each sticky note, each sticky note being one factor. When you are finished you will give them to me, and I will spread them randomly around the table. You will then as a group have to organize them by groups or categories, that we will discuss later.'

[If some of my dimensions included in the operationalization table are not identified, they will also be brought into the discussion.]

'One of the dimensions is language and cultural literacy. How do you feel that your language skills affect your engagement with the education of your children?'

'I would like to understand if parents are well-informed of the complicated tracking system in The Netherlands. Students in The Netherlands have to choose between different tracks in the school. Are you aware of these different tracks and how do they differ from each other? Do you think that these choices are important? Do you think that enough information is provided for you to understand the educational system of the NL?'

'Still within this category, I would like to understand the role in all this of the education of the parents. In what ways do you think that your own educational experience positively and/or negatively affect your engagement in the education of your children?'

'Another of the identified dimensions is work. Do you feel that your work schedule affects your parental engagement? If so, in what ways?'

'Another category from your answers refer to the school attitudes. I would like you to think about your experiences in the school. How welcome and comfortable do you feel at school? What makes you feel that way?'

'Do you think that the school staff behave differently towards you because of your background? Have you experienced situations of discrimination in the school?'

'Do you think that previous negative experiences with the school affect your engagement?'

'Certain situations related to your households seem to also affect your engagement. This could refer to situations such as availability of childcare for your other children, having dependent family members, etc. Do you think that certain elements of your household situation positively or negatively affect your parental engagement?'

'Finally, the last factor I would like you to discuss brings us back to the first drawing you did in the beginning of the session. We saw that there are different interpretations of what does parental engagement mean. Considering this, I would like you to take a minute or two to think about the following questions. Do you feel that there are differences in expectations between you and the school regarding parental engagement? In what ways? What do you think are the implications of this?'

(Final, reflective question) 'Is there anything else you'd like to mention about your engagement in the education of your children? Something you'd like to add that hasn't already been mentioned?'

Bibliography

- Alameda-Lawson, T., Lawson, M. A., & Lawson, H. A. (2010). Social workers' roles in facilitating the collective involvement of low-income, culturally diverse parents in an elementary school. *Children & Schools*, 32(3), 172-182.
- Alba, R., Sloan, J., & Sperling, J. (2011). The integration imperative: The children of low-status immigrants in the schools of wealthy societies. *Annual review of sociology*, *37*, 395-415.
- Alexiu, T. M., Ungureanu, D. & Dorobantu A. (2010). *Impact of education in terms of housing opportunities*. Elsevier.
- Babbie, E. (2018). The practice of social research 14th edition. *Belmont, CA., Wadsworth/Thompson Learning.*
- Barac, R., & Bialystok, E. (2011). Cognitive development of bilingual children. *Language Teaching*, 44(1), 36-54.
- Bengtson, V. L. (2001). Beyond the nuclear family: the increasing importance of multigenerational bonds. *Journal of marriage and family*, *63*(1), 1-16.
- Bernhard, J. K., Lefebvre, M. L., Murphy Kilbride, K., Chud, G., & Lange, R. (1998). Troubled relationships in early childhood education: Parent–teacher interactions in ethnoculturally diverse child care settings. *Early Education and Development*, 9(1), 5-28.
- Berry, J. W. (2011). Integration and multiculturalism: Ways towards social solidarity. *Papers on social representations*, 20(1).
- Berzin, S. C. (2010). Educational aspirations among low-income youths: Examining multiple conceptual models. *Children & Schools*, *32*(2), 112-124.
- Birman, D. (2005). Ethical issues in research with immigrants and refugees. *The handbook of ethical research with ethnocultural populations and communities*, 155-178.
- Blanco, R., & Umayahara, M. (2004). Participación de las familias en la educación infantil latinoamericana. UNESCO.
- Brajša-Žganec, A., Merkaš, M., & Šakić Velić, M. (2019). The relations of parental supervision, parental school involvement, and child's social competence with school achievement in primary school. *Psychology in the Schools*, 56(8), 1246-1258.
- Carlisle, E., Stanley, L., & Kemple, K. M. (2005). Opening doors: Understanding school and family influences on family involvement. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 33, 155-162.

- Castells, M., Flecha, R., Freire, P., Giroux, H. A., Macedo, D., & Willis, P. (1999). *Critical education in the new information age*. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Chavkin, N. F. (Ed.). (1993). Families and schools in a pluralistic society. SUNY Press.
- Crozier, G., & Davies, J. (2007). Hard to reach parents or hard to reach schools? A discussion of home—school relations, with particular reference to Bangladeshi and Pakistani parents. *British educational research journal*, 33(3), 295-313.
- Crul, M., Holdaway, J., De Valk, H., Fuentes, N., & Zaal, M. (2013). Educating the children of immigrants in Old and New Amsterdam. *The children of immigrants at school: A comparative look at integration in the United States and Western Europe*, 39-83.
- Curdt-Christiansen, X. L. (2020). Educating migrant children in England: language and educational practices in home and school environments. *International Multilingual Research Journal*, 14(2), 163-180.
- Cyr, J. (2019). Focus groups for the social science researcher. Cambridge University Press.
- Daley, A. M. (2013). Adolescent-friendly remedies for the challenges of focus group research. *Western journal of nursing research*, *35*(8), 1043-1059.
- Davis-Kean, P. E. (2005). The influence of parent education and family income on child achievement: the indirect role of parental expectations and the home environment. *Journal of family psychology*, *19*(2), 294.
- Delgado-Gaitán, C. (1991). Involving parents in the schools: A process of empowerment. *American journal of Education*, *100*(1), 20-46.
- Delgado-Gaitán, C. (1993). Parenting in two generations of Mexican American families. *International journal of behavioral development*, *16*(3), 409-427.
- Desforges, C., & Abouchaar, A. (2003). The impact of parental involvement, parental support and family education on pupil achievement and adjustment: A literature review (Vol. 433). London: DfES.
- Dörr, S., & Faist, T. (1997). Institutional conditions for the integration of immigrants in welfare states: A comparison of the literature on Germany, France, Great Britain, and the Netherlands. *European Journal of Political Research*, 31(4), 401-426.
- Epstein, J. L. (2010). School/family/community partnerships: Caring for the children we share. *Phi delta kappan*, *92*(3), 81-96.

- Eugster, B. (2018). Immigrants and poverty, and conditionality of immigrants' social rights. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 28(5), 452-470.
- Facknitz, H. S, Matavelli, I., Mathur, I., Nguyen, E., Okatch, C. L. (2022). It's Not Gender As Usual: Guiding Questions for Transformative Intersectional Gender+ Research. ORICE UBC, Vancouver, BC.
- Finders, M., & Lewis, C. (1994). Why some parents don't come to school. *Educational leadership*, 51(8), 50-54.
- Finley, S. (2008). Arts-based research. SAGE Publications, Inc., https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452226545
- Fleischmann, F., & de Haas, A. (2016). Explaining parents' school involvement: The role of ethnicity and gender in the Netherlands. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 109(5), 554-565.
- Gagnon, Yves-Chantal. (2010). The case study as research method: A practical handbook. PUQ.
- García-Carmona, M., Evangelou, M., & Fuentes-Mayorga, N. (2020). 'Hard-to-reach'parents: immigrant families' participation in schools and the views of parent association leaders in Spain and the United States. *Research Papers in Education*, *35*(3), 337-358.
- Gemeente Den Haag. (2019). *Together for the city*. *Coalition Agreement 2019-2022*. https://denhaag.raadsinformatie.nl/document/8273586/1/Bijlage_Samen_voor_de_stad_c oalitieakkoord_2019_2022
- Gemeente Den Haag. (2019). Regio Deal Den Haag South West. https://www.zuidwestopznbest.denhaag.nl/wpcontent//uploads/2021/02/Regio_Deal_Den_Haag_Zuidwest.pdf
- Gemeente Den Haag. (2021). Progress Reporting Regional Deal The Hague Southwest. https://denhaag.raadsinformatie.nl/document/10866871/1#search=%22ris310659%22
- Gemeente Den Haag. (2022). Concept Programmaplan: Brede Aanpank Zuidwest. https://zuidwestopznbest.denhaag.nl/wp-content//uploads/2022/05/220242-Programmaplan-Brede-Aanpak-Zuidwest-DEF.pdf
- Gemeente Den Haag. (2022). Bevolking. Retrieved from Den Haag in cijfers: https://denhaag.incijfers.nl/dashboard/wijkprofielen/bevolking
- Gemeente Den Haag. (2022). Onderwijs. Retrieved from Den Haag in cijfers: https://denhaag.incijfers.nl/dashboard/wijkprofielen/onderwijs

- Gemeente Den Haag. (2022). Werk en inkomen. Retrieved from Den Haag in cijfers: https://denhaag.incijfers.nl/dashboard/wijkprofielen/werk-en-inkomen
- Gibbs, A. (1997). Focus groups. Social research update, 19(8), 1-8.
- Gibbs, G. R. & Taylor, C. (2005). 'How and what to code', available online: Online QDA Web Site: http://www.acrn.eu/cambridge/downloads/files/How%20and%20what%20to%20code.pd f
- Gibson, M., Carrasco, S., Pàmies, J., Ponferrada, M., & Rios, A. (2012). Different Systems, similar results. Immigrant Youth in schools in California and Catalonia. New York University Press.
- Gordan, I., J. (1968). Parent Involvement in Compensatory Education. University of Illinois Press.
- Governance of Migration and Diversity. "About the Thesis Hub." Accessed February 15, 2023. https://www.gmdcentre.nl/about-the-thesis-hub
- Gries, T., Redlin, M., & Zehra, M. (2021). Educational assimilation of first-generation and secondgeneration immigrants in Germany. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 1-31.
- Grolnick, W. S., & Slowiaczek, M. L. (1994). Parents' involvement in children's schooling: A multidimensional conceptualization and motivational model. *Child development*, 65(1), 237-252.
- Heath, A. F., & Cheung, S. Y. (2007). Unequal chances: Ethnic minorities in Western labour markets. Oxford University Press.
- Heath, A. F., Rothon, C., & Kilpi, E. (2008). The second generation in Western Europe: Education, unemployment, and occupational attainment. *Annu. Rev. Sociol*, *34*, 211-235.
- Hoover-Dempsey, K. V., & Sandler, H. M. (1995). Parental involvement in children's education: Why does it make a difference?. *Teachers college record*, 97(2), 310-331.
- Hoover-Dempsey, K. V., Walker, J. M., Sandler, H. M., Whetsel, D., Green, C. L., Wilkins, A. S.,
 & Closson, K. (2005). Why do parents become involved? Research findings and implications. *The elementary school journal*, *106*(2), 105-130.
- Hornby, G., & Blackwell, I. (2018). Barriers to parental involvement in education: An update. *Educational review*, 70(1), 109-119.

- Hornby, G., & Witte, C. (2010). Parental involvement in secondary schools in New Zealand: Implications for school psychologists. *School Psychology International*, *31*(5), 495-508.
- Huntsinger, C. S., & Jose, P. E. (2009). Parental involvement in children's schooling: Different meanings in different cultures. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 24(4), 398-410.
- Jeynes, W. H. (2007). The relationship between parental involvement and urban secondary school student academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Urban education*, *42*(1), 82-110.
- Khalfaoui, A., García-Carrión, R., & Villardón-Gallego, L. (2020). Bridging the gap: engaging Roma and migrant families in early childhood education through trust-based relationships. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 28(5), 701-711.
- Khoudja, Y. (2018). Employment and education-occupation mismatches of immigrants and their children in the Netherlands: comparisons with the native majority group. *Social Inclusion*, 6(3), 119-14.
- Krueger, R. A. (2014). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research. Sage publications.
- Landy, S., & Menna, R. (2006). Early intervention with multi-risk families. An integrative approach. Baltimore.
- Lareau, A. (1987). Social class differences in family-school relationships: The importance of cultural capital. *Sociology of education*, 73-85.
- Liamputtong, P. (2011). Focus group methodology: Principle and practice. Sage publications.
- López, G. (2001). The value of hard work: Lessons on parent involvement from an (im) migrant household. *Harvard educational review*, *71*(3), 416-438.
- López, G. R., Scribner, J. D., & Mahitivanichcha, K. (2001). Redefining parental involvement: Lessons from high-performing migrant-impacted schools. *American Educational Research Journal*, 38(2), 253-288.
- Marschall, M. (2006). Parent involvement and educational outcomes for Latino students. *Review* of Policy Research, 23(5), 1053-1076.
- Moles, O. C. (1993). Collaboration between schools and disadvantaged parents: Obstacles and openings. *Families and schools in a pluralistic society*, *168*, 21-49.
- Muller, C., & Kerbow, D. (2018). Parent involvement in the home, school, and community. In *Parents, their children, and schools* (pp. 13-42). Routledge.
- P. Oosterleeschool. (2019). *Schoolplan* 2019 2023. https://oosterleeschool.nl/wpcontent/uploads/2022/07/Schoolplan-Oosterleeschool-2019-2023.pdf

- Pels, T. V. (2003). Educational strategies of Moroccan mothers in the Netherlands. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 11(2), 63-76.
- Portes, A. (1998). Social capital: Its origins and applications in modern sociology. *Annual review* of sociology, 24(1), 1-24.
- Qin, J. (2017). Biased sampling, over-identified parameter problems and beyond (Vol. 5). Singapore: Springer.
- Ramirez, A. Y. (2003). Dismay and disappointment: Parental involvement of Latino immigrant parents. *Urban review*, *35*(2).
- Resilient The Hague. "Resilient Southwest: public transportation as an accelerators for neighbourhood development." Accessed February 15, 2023. https://resilientthehague.nl/en/projects/weerbaar-zuidwest-openbaar-vervoer-alsversneller-voor-wijkontwikkeling/
- Robert, D., & Gaudet, S. (2018). A Journey Through Qualitative Research: From Design to Reporting. *A Journey Through Qualitative Research*, 1-264.
- Sam, D. L., & Berry, J. W. (2010). Acculturation: When individuals and groups of different cultural backgrounds meet. *Perspectives on psychological science*, 5(4), 472-481.
- Schneider, C., & Arnot, M. (2018). Transactional school-home-school communication: Addressing the mismatches between migrant parents' and teachers' views of parental knowledge, engagement and the barriers to engagement. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 75, 10-20.
- Smith, J. (2020). Teachers' perspectives on communication and parent engagement in early childhood education programs for migrant farmworker children. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 18(2), 115-129.
- Smithson, J. (2000). Using and analysing focus groups: limitations and possibilities. *International journal of social research methodology*, *3*(2), 103-119.
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Sage Publications.
- Tarabini, A. (2010). Education and poverty in the global development agenda: Emergence, evolution and consolidation. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 30(2), 204-212.
- Turney, K., & Kao, G. (2009). Barriers to school involvement: Are immigrant parents disadvantaged?. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *102*(4), 257-271.

- Uzelac, E., Kapović, I., Jelić, M., & Biruški, D. Č. (2022). One size does not fit all: Multiculturalism, assimilationism, and identity among majority and minority groups in two new-established democracies. *Social Psychology*.
- Van Laere, K., Van Houtte, M., & Vandenbroeck, M. (2018). Would it really matter? The democratic and caring deficit in 'parental involvement'. In Working with Parents and Families in Early Childhood Education (pp. 31-44). Routledge.
- Vinopal, K. (2017). Understanding individual and organizational level representation: The case of parental involvement in schools. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 28(1), 1-15.
- Wilder, S. (2014). Effects of parental involvement on academic achievement: a metasynthesis. *Educational Review*, 66(3), 377-397.
- Woolley, M. (1992). Using statistics for desk research. In *Aslib proceedings* (Vol. 44, No. 5, pp. 227-233). MCB UP Ltd.
- Yin, R. K. (2003). Case study research: design and methods. Sage Publications.
- Zapata Barrero, R., & Yalaz, E. (2019). Qualitative migration research ethics: mapping the core challenges.
- ZuidWest. "Regio Deal." Accessed February 15, 2023. https://zuidwestopznbest.denhaag.nl/regiodeal/
- ZuidWest. "Zuidwest in cijfers." Accessed March 19, 2023. https://zuidwestopznbest.denhaag.nl/zuidwest/